# RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

10-04-2019

IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2018AP001350-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ULANDA M. GREEN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals
Affirming a Denial of a Motion for Postconviction
Relief and an Order Denying the Defendant's Motion
to Suppress Evidence Entered in the Milwaukee
County Circuit Court, the Honorable Thomas R.
Wolfgram Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Prior to informing Ms. Green of her *Miranda*<sup>1</sup> rights, police engaged her in a five-minute, largely one-sided, conversation about this case. Did this pre-*Miranda* interaction constitute "interrogation" or its functional equivalent?

The circuit court held: "Nothing in the detective's preliminary discussion with the defendant can reasonably be construed as an interrogation." (40:3); (App. 125).

The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that Ms. Green's admission of receiving stolen property from one of her co-defendants was "volunteered" in response to police "summarizing" the evidence against her. State v. Green, Appeal No. 2018AP1350-CR, ¶ 30, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. May 29, 2019). (App. 116).

2. Ms. Green was eventually asked if she would like to make a statement. She replied, "No. I don't know nothing." Was this a sufficient invocation of her right to remain silent?

The circuit court denied Ms. Green's suppression motion, holding that this statement was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals focused on arguably the most incriminating statement by Ms. Green; however, Ms. Green's briefs also alleged that questions seeking to establish Ms. Green lived with, and was romantically linked to, the actual robber were also incriminating.

ambiguous. (52:7); (App. 132). The Court of Appeals agreed, holding that there was another competing inference—that she could "reasonably be understood to be asserting her innocence." *Green*, Appeal No. 2018AP1350-CR, ¶ 33. (App. 117).

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court's acceptance of this case for review signifies the importance of the issues presented, and therefore both oral argument and publication of its opinion are appropriate.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The information charged Ms. Green with being a party to the crime of robbery, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 943.32(1)(a) and 939.05. (4:1).

Trial counsel filed a motion to suppress Ms. Green's custodial statements. (13:1). The circuit court held a hearing and denied the defense motion. (52:9); (App. 134). Ms. Green then pleaded guilty to the charges of harboring or aiding a felon contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.47(1)(a) and receiving stolen property contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.34(1)(a) and was sentenced to a term of imprisonment. (20; 22); (App. 119-122).

Ms. Green filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (24). Ms. Green then filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion asking for plea withdrawal, resentencing and sentence modification. (27:1). The motion was denied in a

written order, without a hearing. (28). Ms. Green filed a timely notice of appeal. (29). However, counsel ascertained the record may be deficient with respect to the preserved suppression issue. (34). The Court of Appeals therefore permitted Ms. Green to dismiss her pending appeal and file a supplemental Rule 809.30 postconviction motion in circuit court. (32).

The supplemental postconviction motion asked the circuit court to make a definitive and clear ruling as to the issue of an improper pre-*Miranda* interrogation, which was raised in the motion to suppress. (36:2). In the alternative, Ms. Green alleged counsel was ineffective for not obtaining such a ruling at the motion hearing. (36:3). In a written order, the circuit court ruled on the remaining issue from the motion to suppress and denied relief. (40:3); (App. 125).

Ms. Green appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Green*, Appeal No. 2018AP1350-CR,  $\P$  4. (App. 103). This Court then granted review.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

# **Background**

This case arises from a robbery occurring in the Bluemound Heights neighborhood on Milwaukee's west side. (1:2). On that date, E.M.M. reported that a black male "approached him from behind and grabbed his wallet." (1:2). In the act of removing the wallet from E.M.M.'s back pocket, E.M.M.'s pants ripped. (1:2). The suspect fled on foot. (1:2).

A short time later, two individuals were observed on surveillance footage trying to use E.M.M.'s stolen credit cards at a BP gas station. (1:2). In viewing the footage, police were able to identify a suspect, Kevin Cowser.<sup>3</sup> (53:16-17).

Mr. Cowser was then interviewed by law enforcement. (1:2). Mr. Cowser told police he was "staying with" Ms. Green and her boyfriend, Michael Highland Boulevard, Winzer on neighborhoods over from where the robber occurred. (1:2). On the date of the robbery, he told police Mr. Winzer and Ms. Green left the home together. (1:2). Mr. Winzer was wearing clothing consistent with that of the robber. (1:2). When the pair returned home several hours later, Mr. Cowser told police they were acting "paranoid." (1:2). When asked, Ms. Green allegedly told Mr. Cowser she and Mr. Winzer had just done a "lick," which he understood to refer to a robbery. (1:3). Mr. Cowser told police he then went with Ms. Green to the gas station in order to try and use the stolen credit cards. (1:3). When the cards did not work, he told police Ms. Green threw them in a sewer grate. (1:3). Police searched the grate and recovered four of E.M.M.'s credit cards along with other personal documents. (1:3). Police then arrested both Mr. Winzer and Ms. Green. (1:3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The chain of events is not all that clear from the record but, based on defense counsel's explanation of the investigation at sentencing, it appears police "happened to see Mr. Cowser at a bus stop" which was apparently "nearby" the gas station. (53:17).

### Interrogation of Ms. Green

In this case, the interrogation was recorded on video pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 968.073(2). The following description is derived from that video-recorded interview:

## Pre-Miranda Questioning

After arresting Ms. Green, the police placed her in a small, windowless, concrete room for questioning. (Motion Hearing-12/9/16 – Exhibit 1 – CD) (hereinafter "Exhibit 1"). Although Ms. Green's handcuffs were removed at the beginning of the video, the door can be heard closing behind the two officers as they usher Ms. Green into the interrogation room. (Exhibit 1 at 6:50). Ms. Green was then placed at the back of the relatively cramped interrogation room, with the seated bodies of both officers blocking the exit, which is apparently behind them. (Exhibit 1).

Detective Nicole Reaves—apparently the lead investigator in this case—initiated the conversation by introducing herself and asking Ms. Green to call her "Sugar." (Exhibit 1 at 7:29). Detective Reaves then began immediately discussing the underlying law enforcement investigation:

Det. Reaves: Ulanda, they did a search warrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The DVD containing the interview is not given its own record number although it is referenced on the clerk's certificate. (45:1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The DVD contains multiple timestamps; counsel will cite to the timestamp which is linked to the progress bar as displayed in the MediaSolv player.

on your house and stuff today, alright?

Ms. Green: Mm-hmm.

Det. Reaves: Yes?

Ms. Green: Mm-hmm.

Det. Reaves: Okay. And uh you staying there

with your uh boyfriend, Michael?

Ms. Green: Umm staying with his momma and

all them, yeah.

Det. Reaves: Yeah, his momma staying but

Momma gonna be moving across the street in a minute right, his sister stays down the street, Pam?

Ms. Green: Mm-hmm.

Det. Reaves: Okay. Um. Well, when they did the

search warrant, I know they took you and, uh, your boyfriend, uh

Michael, into custody.

Ms. Green: Mm-hmm.

Det. Reaves: So, we have a, an incident that

happened a couple days ago, that uh, um Michael has been identified in and, um, it was a robbery and they were popping up with you as the property on video at the BP gas station out on Highland. Okay?

Ms. Green: Mm-hmm.

Det. Reaves: We also have you dumping the uh,

the cards and stuff into the grid. [Sic] Okay. Now, this is the thing. Just having the property, that ain't no big deal, okay? But as far as

doing the robbery, um, we know you not the one that, that robbed 'em, but we know you know who did, okay? And it's not fair for us to try and put that on you if you ain't the one that did it, you, you feel, --

Ms. Green: [unclear]

Det. Reaves: -- just, just just feel me, just feel

me okay, you know what I'm

saying -

Ms. Green: Yeah.

Det. Reaves: It's not fair for us to do that if you

ain't the one that did it, right?

Ms. Green: I don't know nothing about that

though.

Det. Reaves: Just, just hold on. That's just, just

I'm just asking. It's not fair for us to just do that, right? [Nodding]

Ms. Green: Mm-hmm.

Det. Reaves: So. So basically that's why we got

you down here and everything. Umm, we talked with um, with Kevin, uhh Kevin uhh down here

also, uhh, so...uhh--

Ms. Green: That's who I got the cards from.

Det. Reaves: Okay, well.

Ms. Green: I don't know nothing about it.

Det. Reaves: Hold on. Hold on.

Ms. Green: Nothing at all.

Det. Reaves: You got rights, I don't want you to,

I don't want to violate any of your rights, you know? Sister to sister, because we going to be fair about this, okay?

Ms. Green: Mm-hmm.

Det. Reaves: This ain't about taking another

black woman, black man to jail for some humbug stuff, or whatever, we gonna be fair about this across

the board, okay?

Ms. Green: Mm-hmm.

Det. Reaves: Alright, So, what's right is what's

right. Okay, so. We gonna talk about this. We gonna talk about, you know, the robbery and the cards and, and using the cards and all that kind of stuff, okay? Alright. So. Umm, before we do that though, because you have rights, I'm going to read you your rights, alright? And, umm, we'll go

from there.

Ms. Green: I don't know nothing though.

Det. Reaves: Okay. Alright.

(Exhibit 1 at 7:35-10:03).<sup>6</sup>

Invocation of the Right to Remain Silent

At that point, Detective Reaves produced a printed version of the *Miranda* warnings and began

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> While counsel has done his best to accurately retype the conversation, he is not a certified court reporter and therefore urges this Court to utilize the video as the primary source of information for the words spoken during the interview.

reading them to Ms. Green. (Exhibit 1 at 10:06). From the video, Detective Reaves appears to have read the warnings, verbatim, from the written card. The reading of the rights takes approximately 30 seconds. Ms. Green was then asked if she understood her rights. (Exhibit 1 at 10:38). She answered "yes." (Exhibit 1 at 10:41). She was then asked if she was willing to make a statement. (Exhibit 1 at 10:45). She stated, "No. I don't know nothing." (Exhibit 1 at 10:45).

Detective Reaves began asking additional questions of Ms. Green:

Det. Reaves: Okay. So you are telling me that

you don't want to talk to me right now, you don't want to clear your

name on this?

Ms. Green: I ain't did nothing.

Det. Reaves: Okay, well, that's what I'm saying.

Just. Just, we have to clarify that. Do you want to talk to me and

clear your name, or, or—

Ms. Green: No. No, you all can talk but the

only thing I can say is that I ain't

did nothing.

(Exhibit 1 at 10:47-11:03).

Following this exchange, Detective Reaves asserted that Ms. Green had validly waived her rights and continued the interrogation. (Exhibit 1 at 11:09).

### Motions to Suppress

In light of the foregoing, counsel for Ms. Green filed a motion to suppress Ms. Green's statements. (13). Counsel made three arguments, two of which are preserved for this appeal. First, counsel asserted Ms. Green was subjected to impermissible pre-Miranda interrogation. (13:1). Second, counsel argued Ms. Green validly invoked her Miranda when she stated, "No. I don't know nothing." (13:5).

The circuit court, the Honorable Thomas R. Wolfgram presiding, held a hearing on the motion. (49:2). At that hearing, the parties stipulated to the admission of the videotaped interview, the only evidence presented by the State with respect to the suppression motion. (49:2).

After the court had an opportunity to review the video, the parties returned to court for an oral ruling. (52:2); (App. 127). During that hearing, the circuit court indicated this was a "difficult" motion. (52:5); (App. 130). The court made findings of fact about the setting in which Ms.interrogated (the size and appearance of the room, the clothing of the officers, the fact that one had a holster but no weapons were drawn, etc.). (52:5-6); (App. 130-131). The court found the *Miranda* warnings to be "appropriate" and indicated the sufficiency of Ms. Green's "waiver" was the "[t]he only question." (52:6); (App. 131). The court then found Ms. Green's invocation of her right to remain silent ambiguous. (52:7); (App. 132).

#### Plea and Sentence

Shortly after the adverse ruling, Ms. Green agreed to plead guilty to a charge of harboring or

aiding a felon, a Class I felony, and a charge of receiving stolen property, a Class A misdemeanor. (53:2-3). The parties then proceeded directly to sentencing, at which time the State asked the court to impose the maximum prison sentence for harboring or aiding a felon, 1.5 years of initial confinement followed by 2 years of extended supervision. (53:12). With respect to the receiving stolen property, the State asked the court to impose six months of consecutive jail. (53:12). The prosecutor asserted this sentence was justified based on Ms. Green's prior record. (53:12).

Defense counsel asked the court to impose a concurrent prison sentence, as Ms. Green was currently serving a revocation sentence. (53:23). The circuit court partially followed the State's recommendation and imposed the maximum sentence on the harboring or aiding a felon, consecutive to her revocation case, and a nine-month concurrent jail term on the receiving stolen property. (53:31).

# <u>Postconviction Proceedings</u>

Ms. Green initially filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion seeking plea withdrawal, resentencing, and sentence modification. (27). The motion was denied in a written order. (28). Ms. Green has not renewed those claims on appeal.

Counsel for Ms. Green then filed a supplemental postconviction motion in light of the circuit court's failure to adequately rule on all aspects

of trial counsel's suppression motion.<sup>7</sup> (36). Specifically, the record shows the court did not address the pre-*Miranda* interrogation issue in its oral ruling. (34:2). Accordingly, counsel for Ms. Green asked the court to rule on the merits of that issue or, in the alternative, to find trial counsel ineffective for not adequately preserving it. (36:2).

The circuit court, Judge Wolfgram presiding, addressed the issue on the merits, holding, "Nothing in the detective's preliminary discussion with the defendant can reasonably be construed as an interrogation." (40:3); (App. 125). Judge Wolfgram denied the supplemental motion. (40:3); (App. 125).

#### **Appellate Litigation**

Ms. Green appealed. (43). The Court of Appeals affirmed. *Green*, 2018AP1350-CR, ¶ 4. (App. 103). With respect to the first issue—whether Detective Reaves impermissibly interrogated Ms. Green before informing her of her *Miranda* rights—the Court of Appeals found this Court's decision in *State v*. *Hambly*, 2008 WI 10, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 745 N.W.2d 48, controlling. *Id.*, ¶ 3. (App. 102). "As in the cases reviewed above, the detective in this case was '[c]onfronting a suspect with incriminating physical evidence, or verbally summarizing the State's case[.]"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The motion was necessary to preserve this issue for further review in light of *Sohns v. Jensen*, 11 Wis. 2d 449, 453, 105 N.W.2d 818 (1960). ("The court on appeal will also assume when a finding is not made on an issue which appears from the record to exist, that it was determined in favor of or in support of the judgment.")

Id., ¶ 30 (quoting Hambly, 2008 WI 10, ¶ 57) (brackets and formatting in original). (App. 116).

With respect to Ms. Green's invocation, the Court of Appeals held that Ms. Green's assertion "I don't know nothing" created ambiguity in light of this Court's prior jurisprudence establishing that a "proclamation of innocence is incompatible with a desire to cut off questioning." *Id.*, ¶ 33 (quoting *State v. Cummings*, 2014 WI 88, ¶ 64, 357 Wis. 2d 1, 850 N.W.2d 915). (App. 118).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case, the record clearly demonstrates Detective Reaves engaged in a deliberate attempt to elicit incriminating information from Ms. Green prior to informing her of her *Miranda* rights. She did so by utilizing both direct questioning and its functional equivalent. Because this is the very same conduct forbidden by the original *Miranda* decision, this Court must suppress Ms. Green's resulting admissions.

Detective Reaves eventually attempted to conform to constitutional norms by informing Ms. Green of her *Miranda* rights. In response, Ms. Green made a "clear statement" indicating that she wished to invoke her right to remain silent and terminate the encounter. However, Detective Reaves did not "scrupulously honor" that invocation. *Michigan v. Mosley*, 423 U.S. 96, 104 (1975) Accordingly, this Court must suppress her resulting statements.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In applying constitutional principles to the facts of this case, this Court exercises de novo review "without deference to the courts initially considering the question, but benefitting from their analysis."  $State\ v.\ Harris,\ 2017\ WI\ 31,\ \P\ 9,\ 374\ Wis.\ 2d\ 271,\ 892\ N.W.2d\ 663.$ 

#### ARGUMENT

- I. This Court should apply well-settled principles and find that the pre-Miranda conduct constituted an impermissible interrogation.
  - A. Legal principles.

"The Wisconsin and United States Constitutions promise that no person will be compelled to incriminate himself or herself in a criminal case." *State v. Ezell*, 2014 WI App 101, ¶ 8, 357 Wis. 2d 675, 855 N.W.2d 453. "This freedom from compelled self-incrimination is one of the nation's 'most cherished principles." *Harris*, 2017 WI 31, ¶ 12, (quoting *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 458)).

Accordingly, this Court is tasked with "patrolling a generous buffer zone around the central prohibition." Id. "The most important aspect of that buffer is the right to remain silent while in police custody." Id., ¶ 13. Thus, agents of the State are required "to formally instruct the suspect of his constitutional rights and then conduct themselves according to how he elects to preserve or waive them" before commencing an interrogation. Id. Fifth

Amendment warnings are required when: (a) the defendant is "in custody" for the purposes of *Miranda* and (b) the individual is subject to constitutionally cognizable "interrogation." *State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 352, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999).

"In general, a person is 'in custody' for purposes of *Miranda* when he or she is 'deprived of his [or her] freedom of action in any significant way." *Id.* at 353 (quoting *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444, 447) (brackets in original). Here, Ms. Green's custodial status has never been in dispute. The only issue is whether interrogation occurred.

"Interrogation" in this context can refer to either "express questioning or its functional equivalent." *Id.* at 356. If law enforcement fails to adequately warn the suspect before commencing an interrogation, "no evidence obtained as a result" can be used. *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 479.

B. Because police utilized both express questioning and its functional equivalent before informing Ms. Green of her *Miranda* rights her resulting statements must be suppressed.

# 1. Express questioning.

As this Court recently set forth in *Harris*, whether "express questioning" occurred is evaluated in context of "the nature of the information" sought by a particular question or set of questions posed by law enforcement. *Harris*, 2017 WI 31, ¶ 17. That content must be "potentially incriminating." Id., ¶ 18. In this context, the term "incriminatory" is broadly

defined: An incriminating response is "any response—whether inculpatory or exculpatory—that the prosecution may seek to introduce at trial." *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 301 n. 5 (1980).

Here, Detective Reaves' one-sided conversation with Ms. Green is peppered with numerous interrogative requests for incriminatory information.

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