## **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-05-2018

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP1350-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ULANDA M. GREEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A SUPPLEMENTAL POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TOM R. WOLFGRAM, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER R. REMINGTON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1098838

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

qualifies as interrogation); *State v. Bond*, 2000 WI App 118, ¶¶ 16–17, 237 Wis. 2d 633, 614 N.W.2d 552, *aff'd by an equally divided court*, 2001 WI 56, 243 Wis. 2d 476, 627 N.W.2d 484 (confronting a suspect with a unique phrase the officer heard the suspect use during his investigation and which only the suspect would understand was reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response and thus constituted interrogation).

Green further complains about Detective Reaves repeatedly asking Green if it would be fair for the police to hold her accountable for the robbery if they knew she did not commit it. (Green's Br. 16.) But that question called for a non-incriminating yes-or-no answer. The only information sought in the question was whether Green believed it would be fair for the police to pin her with a crime they knew she did not commit. The response to such a question is either a "yes" or a "no," and neither would have any testimonial significance.

Green also accuses Detective Reaves of "intentionally mislead[ing] Ms. Green by telling her that [she] would not get in trouble for merely possessing the stolen property" and by "suggesting that Ms. Green could help herself by giving up information about the robbery itself or how she had come into possession of those items." (Green's Br. 18.) Green's accusations read words into Detective Reaves's statements that simply are not there.

Detective Reaves did not tell Green that she "would not get in trouble for merely possessing the stolen property." (Green's Br. 18.) Detective Reaves said, "Just having the property, that ain't no big deal, okay." (Ex. 1 at 8:35–8:39.) Detective Reaves was communicating the crime of receiving stolen property is less of a "big deal" when compared to robbery. She never said or implied that Green could not be charged with and punished for that crime, though.

Detective Reaves also did not suggest "that Green could help herself" by giving up information about the robbery. (Green's Br. 18.) Detective Reaves said that she knew Green did not commit the robbery and that it would not be fair to pin the robbery on Green. (Ex. 1 at 8:39–9:06.) Detective Reaves also communicated that she believed Green knew who committed the robbery. (Ex. 1 at 8:45–8:47.) At no point, though, did Detective Reaves suggest that Green could help herself if she gave up the robber. Nor did Detective Reaves suggest, as officers sometimes will, that she would help Green down the road if Green gave her information about the robbery.

Finally, Green argues that Detective Reaves sought an incriminating response when she notified Green that the police spoke with Cowser. (Green's Br. 16, 18.) Green accuses Detective Reaves of "linger[ing]" information, she to Green's subsequent and points incriminating statement proof Detective as Reaves interrogated Green. (Green's Br. 16, 18.)

But the fact that a suspect makes an incriminating statement does not prove that the suspect was interrogated. Officers are allowed to present incriminating evidence to a suspect and to verbally summarize the State's case. *Hambly*, 307 Wis. 2d 98, ¶ 57. Furthermore, the recording of the video shows that Detective Reaves paused during this statement to check her notes, which were sitting on the table to her left, not to implement some sort of interrogation tactic. (Ex. 1, 9:11-9:20.) Detective Reaves did nothing more than inform Green of one more reason why she was in custody being questioned. Detective Reaves had no way of knowing that Green would volunteer that she received the stolen cards from Cowser. See Arizona v. Mauro, 481 U.S. 520, 529 (1987) ("Volunteered statements of any kind are not barred by the Fifth Amendment . . . ." (quoting Miranda, 384 U.S. at 478)).

In sum, Detective Reaves did not interrogate Green prior to reading her the *Miranda* warnings. During the short pre-*Miranda* discussion, Detective Reaves provided context and background as to what the police were investigating and why they were questioning Green. Moreover, the second Detective Reaves thought Green was starting to divulge incriminating information, she asked Green to "hold on" because she did not want to violate Green's rights. (Ex. 1 at 9:23–9:29.) Because none of Detective Reaves's background discussion with Green was designed to or reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response, such discussion cannot—and does not—rise to the level of interrogation. Accordingly, Green is not entitled to suppression on that issue.

## II. Detective Reaves did not violate Green's right to remain silent.

Green's second argument on appeal concerns the statements she made after receiving her *Miranda* rights. Green claims that Detective Reaves violated her right to remain silent when Detective Reaves continued to ask Green questions after she allegedly invoked her right. Because Green did not, however, properly invoke her right to remain silent, Detective Reaves could continue to question Green.

# A. A suspect must unequivocally invoke her right to remain silent.

A suspect's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent includes two separate protections: (1) the right to remain silent prior to any questioning and (2) the right to cut off questioning. State v. Hampton, 2010 WI App 169, ¶ 46, 330 Wis. 2d 531, 793 N.W.2d 901 (citing Miranda, 384 U.S. at 460, and Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96, 103 (1975)). To avail herself of either protection, the suspect must "unequivocally" invoke the right to remain silent. State v. Markwardt, 2007 WI App 242, ¶ 36, 306 Wis. 2d 420, 742

N.W.2d 546 ("[A] suspect's claimed unequivocal invocation of the right to remain silent must be patent.").

"If the suspect does not unambiguously invoke his or her right to remain silent, the police need not cease their questioning of the suspect." *State v. Ross*, 203 Wis. 2d 66, 78, 552 N.W.2d 428 (Ct. App. 1996). Indeed, "the police need not even ask the suspect clarifying questions" if he or she makes an ambiguous statement regarding the right. *Id*.

To unequivocally invoke the right, "[a] suspect must, by either an oral or written assertion or nonverbal conduct that is intended by the suspect as an assertion and is reasonably perceived by the police as such, inform the police that he or she wishes to remain silent." Ross, 203 Wis. 2d at 78. The suspect's articulation of her desire to remain silent or cut off questioning must be "sufficiently clear[] that a reasonable officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be an invocation of the right to remain silent." Id. (quoting Davis v. United States, 512 U.S. 452, 459 (1994)). When "a suspect's statement is susceptible to 'reasonable competing inferences' as to its meaning, then the 'suspect did not sufficiently invoke the right to remain silent." State v. Cummings, 2014 WI 88, ¶ 51, 357 Wis. 2d 1, 850 N.W.2d 915 (quoting Markwardt, 306 Wis. 2d 420, ¶ 36).

Even a clear statement like, "I don't want to talk about this," can become ambiguous when coupled with a statement like, "I don't know nothing about this." *Cummings*, 357 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 64. This is because a statement such as "I don't know nothing about this" is an exculpatory statement proclaiming innocence, and "such a proclamation of innocence is incompatible with a desire to cut off questioning." *Id.* Accordingly, in *Cummings*, the supreme court concluded that "the mere fact that [the defendant's] statements *could* be interpreted as proclamations of innocence or selective refusals to answer questions [was]

sufficient to conclude that they [were] subject to 'reasonable competing inferences' as to their meaning." Id. ¶¶ 68, 64.

Finally, "[t]here is good reason to require an accused who wants to invoke his or her right to remain silent to do so unambiguously." *Berghuis v. Thompkins*, 560 U.S. 370, 381 (2010). Namely, the requirement "results in an objective inquiry that 'avoid[s] difficulties of proof and . . . provide[s] guidance to officers on how to proceed in the face of ambiguity. *Id.* (citing *Davis*, 512 U.S. at 458–59). "If an ambiguous act, omission, or statement could require police to end the interrogation, police would be required to make difficult decisions about an accused's unclear intent and face the consequences of suppression 'if they guess wrong." *Id.* at 382 (citing *Davis*, 512 U.S. at 461). "Suppression of a voluntary confession [under those] circumstances would place a significant burden on society's interest in prosecuting criminal activity." *Id.* 

# B. Green did not unequivocally invoke her right to remain silent.

Here, Green did not unequivocally invoke her right to remain silent, because her statement was susceptible to reasonable competing inferences as to its meaning.

After reading Green her *Miranda* rights, Detective Reaves asked Green if she was "willing to answer questions or make a statement," and Green responded, "No, I don't know nothing." (Ex. 1, 10:41–48.) Although Green's initial "No," was clear, her addition of the phrase, "I don't know nothing," created ambiguity. A proclamation of innocence, such as "I don't know nothing," is "incompatible with a desire to cut off questioning." *Cummings*, 357 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 64. Accordingly, such a statement creates a reasonable competing inference. *See id.* ¶ 68; *see also State v. Kramar*, 149 Wis. 2d 767, 788, 440 N.W.2d 317 (1989) ("A defendant's

disclaimer of any knowledge of the death of a victim does not constitute an invocation of the defendant's right to silence.").

Although not required to do so by law, Detective Reaves sought clarification twice. After receiving Green's ambiguous statement, Detective Reaves asked, "Okay, so you're telling me that you don't want to talk to me right now and you don't want to clear your name on this?" (Ex. 1 at 10:48–10:53.) Green answered, "I ain't did nothing." (Ex. 1 at 10:48–10:53.) After receiving this second ambiguous statement, Detective Reaves further asked, "Okay, well, that's what I'm saying. Just, just, we have to clarify that. Do you want to talk to me and clear your name or—."(Ex. 1 at 10:53–11:03.) Green responded, "Yeah, yeah, I'll talk, but all's I got to say is I ain't did nothing." (Ex. 1 at 10:53–11:03.)

It was only at that point—when Detective Reaves received an affirmative, "I'll talk"—that Detective Reaves stated for the record that Green waived her rights and was willing to answer questions. Presumably, if Green did not want to answer questions, she would have corrected Detective Reaves's statement that had she agreed to do so, but Green said nothing in response.

Green argues that her additional "I don't know nothing" statement did not render her "no" ambiguous. (Green's Br. 20.) Green claims that when read in context, "the explanatory addendum is not a superfluous invocation of innocence giving rise to ambiguity, but rather a sensible (and polite) response to the ongoing interrogation." (Green's Br. 20–21.) The State disagrees.

Here, as in *Cummings*, the phrase "I don't know nothing" was a proclamation of innocence, and such proclamations are "incompatible with a desire to cut off questioning." *Cummings*, 357 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 64.

At numerous points, Green could have said that she wanted to remain silent or that she did not want to talk. Berghuis, 560 U.S. at 382 ("[The defendant] did not say that he wanted to remain silent or that he did not want to talk with the police. Had he made either of these simple, unambiguous statements, he would have invoked his 'right to cut off questioning." (quoting Mosley, 423 U.S. at 103)). Instead, she said she did not know anything. But not knowing information is different than not wanting to talk about information. Green could have known nothing about the robbery and still been willing to talk about it.

And the record demonstrates that Green was willing to talk about the robbery. Upon requesting clarification, Green told Detective Reaves, "I'll talk." (Ex. 1 at 10:59–11:03.) And the context of Green's sentence makes clear that she was indicating that she would talk, but did not know anything about it. (Ex. 1 at 10:53–11:03.)

Green also argues that Cummings is distinguishable because Green's statement was not "coupled with a demonstrated desire to converse about other topics." (Green's Br. 23.) It is true that the Cummings court had two bases for concluding that the defendant's statements were subject to reasonable competing inferences: (1) the statements could be interpreted as proclamations of innocence and (2) the statements could be interpreted as selective refusals to answer questions. Cummings, 357 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 68.

But the court did not require that a proclamation of innocence be coupled with a demonstrated desire to talk about another topic. This is indicated by the court's use of the word "or": "The mere fact that [the defendant's] statements *could* be interpreted as proclamations of innocence *or* selective refusals to answer questions is sufficient to conclude that they are subject to 'reasonable competing inferences' as to their meaning." *Cummings*, 357

Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 68 (second emphasis added). Thus the fact that Green's statement could have alone been interpreted as a proclamation of innocence was sufficient to conclude that her statement was subject to reasonable competing inferences.

In a footnote, Green presents a hypothetical. (Green's Br. 21 n.6.) Green asks this Court to "[i]magine asking a coworker to lunch: 'Would you like to eat lunch with me?" (Green's Br. 21 n.6.) The coworker responds, "No. I am not hungry." (Green's Br. 21 n.6.) Green alleges that "[n]o reasonable human being could, with a straight face, claim to detect any ambiguity as to whether or not the person desires to dine with them." (Green's Br. 21 n.6.) In the State's view, a more analogous answer to Green's hypothetical would be, "No, I do not have any food." The lack of having any food does not necessarily mean the coworker does not want to have lunch. Similarly here, allegedly not knowing anything about the crime did not necessarily mean that Green did not want to talk to Detective Reaves.

Finally, Green lists a series of cases in which she claims various courts have found substantially similar invocations unambiguous. (Green's Br. 24–25.) As a preliminary matter, a majority of the cases cited by Green come from other jurisdictions and are, therefore, not binding on this Court. State v. Quiroz, 2009 WI App 120, ¶ 24, 320 Wis. 2d 706, 772 N.W.2d 710 ("[A]lthough a Wisconsin court may consider case law from other jurisdictions, such case law is not binding precedent in Wisconsin, and a Wisconsin court is not required to follow it."). Substantively, the cases cited by Green are distinguishable; in all of the excerpts provided by Green, the defendants clearly state that they do not want to communicate with the officers, rather than simply disclaim any knowledge of the crime. (Green's Br. 24–25.)

In sum, because Green did not unequivocally invoke her right to remain silent, Detective Reaves could continue to question Green. As a result, Green is also not entitled to suppression on this issue.

## C. Green is not entitled to suppression, but if this Court disagrees, her remedy should be limited to suppression of the evidence.

Should this Court reverse the circuit court's decision and judgment, Green asks that she be permitted "to withdraw her guilty plea." (Green's Br. 26.) But a decision from this Court directing the circuit court to grant Green's motion to suppress does not automatically entitle Green to plea withdrawal. "In a guilty plea situation following the denial of a motion to suppress, the test for harmless error on appeal is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the erroneous admission of the disputed evidence contributed to the conviction." State v. Semrau, 2000 WI App 54, ¶ 22, 233 Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376. Said another way, the question is whether there is a "reasonable probability that, but for the trial court's failure to suppress the disputed evidence, [the defendant] would have refused to plead and would have insisted on going to trial." Id. ¶ 26.

If this Court concludes that the circuit court erred when it denied Green's motion to suppress evidence, the remedy is to remand the case to the circuit court to enter an order granting her motion to suppress evidence. The circuit court may then entertain a motion from Green to withdraw her guilty plea. The circuit court should grant plea withdrawal only if the State cannot meet its burden of demonstrating that the circuit court's error in refusing to suppress error was harmless, guided by the factors this Court identified in *Semrau*. *Semrau*, 233 Wis. 2d 508, ¶ 22. This Court should decide the suppression question only and leave the matter of plea withdrawal to the circuit court on remand, if necessary.

#### **CONCLUSION**

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